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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  Finance Committee.

          5                 My name is David Weprin, and I chair

          6  the Committee.

          7                 I am going to introduce my colleagues

          8  that are here, and we are going to be joined by

          9  others as the morning progresses.

         10                 We have Council Member Mike McMahon

         11  from Staten Island, Council Member Mike Nelson from

         12  Brooklyn, Council Member Albert Vann from Brooklyn,

         13  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, our

         14  Majority Leader, Council Member Joel Rivera from the

         15  Bronx, our Deputy Majority Leader, Council Member

         16  Bill Perkins from Manhattan, Council Member Dennis

         17  Gallagher from Queens, our Minority Leader,

         18  Councilman Jim Oddo from Staten Island, our Majority

         19  Whip, Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens,

         20  Council Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn, Council

         21  Member Eric Gioia from Queens, and Jim Caras, who is

         22  counsel to the Finance Committee.

         23                 Today we will be considering Proposed

         24  Intro. Number 454- A, the New York City Film Tax

         25  Credit.
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          2                 On December 1st, two weeks ago, this

          3  committee held an extensive hearing on this

          4  legislation that would provide a refundable credit

          5  equal to five percent of certain "below- the- line"

          6  costs incurred in the production of a film or

          7  television show, as long as at least 75 percent of

          8  the production studio expenses occurred qualified

          9  production facilities within New York City.

         10                 The cost of the City credit is capped

         11  by the state authorizing legislation at $12.5

         12  million per year.

         13                 Since we considered the legislation

         14  two weeks ago today, the state legislature has acted

         15  to adopt legislation allowing the City to enact a

         16  credit against its unincorporated business tax, a

         17  necessary change to allow film production companies

         18  that are partnerships or Limited Liability Companies

         19  to take advantage of the credit.

         20                 In addition, the State Legislature

         21  acted to clarify the City's right to enact an

         22  effective date of its choosing.

         23                 So, the only change to the

         24  legislation before us today is in the effective date

         25  provision.  The credit will start one tax year
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          2  later, beginning in the 2005 tax year, rather than

          3  the 2004 tax year, and will only apply to

          4  productions completed on or after January 1st, 2005.

          5                 However, if you complete a qualified

          6  production on or after January 1st, 2005, you can

          7  put in for qualified "below the- line" expenses

          8  incurred from August 20th, 2004, the effective date

          9  of the state credit.

         10                 Finally, we have obtained commitments

         11  from representative of studios, union, and

         12  production companies to work with the City Council

         13  on outreach education and training to City residents

         14  in general, and minorities in particular.

         15                 They have committed to work with the

         16  City Council on a task force, or working group, to

         17  foster greater participation by minorities in the

         18  industry, and in the new jobs we hope and expect

         19  that this legislation will create.

         20                 We will hear from representatives of

         21  the studios, trade, and the Motion Picture

         22  Association today on this commitment before

         23  considering the legislation for a vote.

         24                 We will also consider the revenue and

         25  expense modifications to the Fiscal 2005 budget,
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          2  which we recently received from the Office of

          3  Management and Budget.

          4                 The expense modification reallocates

          5  appropriations make at adoption into those agencies

          6  where the actual spending will occur.  It also

          7  identifies new needs for education and energy as

          8  well as savings from a reduction in debt service

          9  costs.

         10                 The revenue modification recognizes a

         11  net amount of $553 million in new revenues.  Of

         12  this, $354 million goes to the Budget Stabilization

         13  Account, and some of the remainder goes to fund the

         14  new needs identified in the expense modification.

         15                 We have been joined by a number of

         16  our colleagues. We have been joined by Council

         17  Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan, Council Member

         18  Jim Gennaro from Queens, Council Member Margarita

         19  Lopez from Manhattan, Council Member Helen Sears

         20  from Queens, Council Member Robert Jackson from

         21  Manhattan.

         22                 We will now hear from the panel from

         23  SAG, Silver Cup Studios, Diners Studios, and the

         24  Motion Picture Association of America.  We also have

         25  letters in support of this legislation from IATSE,
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          2  the teamsters, the Directors Guild and AFTRA, who

          3  have all agreed in their letters to work with the

          4  working group and the City Council on the minority

          5  hiring and expansion of minorities in the industry.

          6                 That panel will also be joined by

          7  Sharon Jensen from the Non- Traditional Casting

          8  Project, if she could come up as well.

          9                 Okay, and if you could all decide

         10  among yourselves who is going to go first, and if

         11  you could just identify yourselves with names and

         12  titles for the record.

         13                 MR. SUHN:  Good morning, my name is

         14  Stuart Match Suhn.  I am president of Silver Cup

         15  Studios, and I want to thank the entire City Council

         16  for going us the opportunity for this legislation.

         17                 I just want to encourage you all that

         18  just the anticipation of this tax credit bill, we

         19  are already getting lots of calls from the West

         20  Coast, not just New Yorkers, there was a nice story

         21  in Variety about how New York is really welcoming

         22  new production, and to segway into the idea of how

         23  this production credit will also  help employment

         24  and diversification here in New York, I just want to

         25  continue to encourage a job training and job
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          2  placement for New Yorkers of all backgrounds.

          3                 You have the commitment of Silver Cup

          4  Studios to participate with the New York City Task

          5  Force, with the unions, the guilds, and the studios

          6  to foster an ongoing education, outreach and

          7  training within the film and television industry.

          8  Because, the ultimate goal of increasing

          9  participation of New York City residents and,

         10  particularly, people of color, we think will be a

         11  great improvement for New York City because these

         12  are very well, high paying jobs and will really help

         13  New York continue to grow and increase its tax

         14  revenues to hopefully balance its budget.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         17  Suhn.

         18                 MS. MIELE:  Chairman Weprin and

         19  members of the Committee.  I am with the Motion

         20  Picture Association of America.

         21                 Our members, primarily, are the major

         22  producers of motion pictures and television programs

         23  that you know and love today.

         24                 I am also here to express our

         25  commitment to a Task Force or a working group that
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          2  is established by the Council to promote diversity

          3  amongst the film and television industry in New York

          4  City, and I will join with my colleagues and we,

          5  actually, did not have letters in writing but I will

          6  give you a commitment from the Motion Picture

          7  Association to participate in the Task Force to

          8  promote this educational outreach and training

          9  programs for City residents, and people of color, in

         10  the City of New York.

         11                 Our members have programs, and they

         12  will be working to expand those programs to allow

         13  additional participation, and I will look forward to

         14  working with you on that.

         15                 MR. CELLA:  I am James Cella.  I am a

         16  Managing Director at Steiner Studios (phonetic).

         17                 In the beginning of our project,

         18  David and I have always been inclusionary and have

         19  been working for over the last year with Department

         20  of Business Services on creating a job program at

         21  Steiner Studios, and DBS has set up a community

         22  liaison with the local job center, and we are going

         23  to have a project manager on site to work with each

         24  of the production companies that come into Steiner

         25  to make movies and television shows.  It is what we
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          2  believe it, it is what we believed on before you

          3  asked about it, and what we have been working on for

          4  four years since we started this project.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MS. JENSEN:  Hello, my name is Sharon

          7  Jensen.  I am Executive Director of the Non-

          8  Traditional Casting Project, and thank you, Chairman

          9  Weprin and members of the Finance Committee.

         10                 The Non- traditional Casting Project

         11  was set up in 1986 to address and seek solutions to

         12  the problems of racism and exclusion in theater,

         13  film and television.

         14                 Today our mission is to serve as an

         15  expert advocate and education resource for full

         16  inclusion in the industry, and our focus is to

         17  increase the participation, specifically, of

         18  performers and other artists of color, and artists with

         19  disabilities.

         20                 I have come today to express very

         21  much the Non Traditional Casting Project's

         22  commitment to work with the City Council's Diversity

         23  Task Force, and we also commit to continue to work

         24  with all relevant unions and guilds toward increased

         25  and ongoing educational outreach within the
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          2  television and film industry.

          3                 For this, the purpose is to continue

          4  to increase opportunities for and the participation

          5  of New York City residents, and especially those who

          6  are of color and who have disabilities.           At

          7  the moment, the Non- Traditional Casting Project

          8  already has a range of programs that address

          9  diversity and inclusion, that include a talent bank,

         10  that include a diversity form of workshops and

         11  resource events and panels and forums, and also an

         12  advocacy consulting and information program.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         15                 MS. VANCE:  Hello.  My name is

         16  Cynthia Vance.  I am Second Vice President of Screen

         17  Actors Guild, New York, and the National Legislative

         18  Chair of that same organization.

         19                 You all have several letters in hand

         20  from the major trade union involved in motion

         21  picture production, and television production here

         22  in the City affirming our support, delineating the

         23  numerous programs that the Screen Actors Guild,

         24  AFTRA, DGA have programs in place.

         25                 We support the Non- Traditional
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          2  Casting Project, as Sharon has just delineated, in

          3  fact, I think several of you received an invitation

          4  to an event we had Monday night.  We could not send

          5  out invitations to all of you because it was already

          6  so full and so booked up, but it was an amazing

          7  event that I think was attended by, I think you sent

          8  someone Eric, right?  It was a real success and

          9  addresses just the very issues of trying to break

         10  into this business and support this business.

         11                 The Guild's programs basically break

         12  down into areas of empowerment and providing support

         13  for an access to keep people in the industry,

         14  whether it is through casting sessions with primary

         15  casting directors at major networks, or with other

         16  film makers who have made success in this industry

         17  from a diverse background.

         18                 The other part of it has to do with

         19  data gathering where we try and gather the kinds of

         20  data that would really help us be useful at

         21  evaluating how the industry stands with regards to

         22  reflecting the American scene.

         23                 We continue that, and we look forward

         24  to cooperating and the support of the City Council

         25  in our ongoing efforts to ensure that the screen,
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          2  whether it is small or big, reflects that of our

          3  diverse population.

          4                 The Screen Actors Guild really does

          5  believe that the more jobs that are available and

          6  that you can hear, we believe this will bring in new

          7  work and that will only make more opportunities for

          8  everyone.

          9                 We work with the MPAA, they fund a

         10  number of the programs.  We could always us more

         11  funding but through a fund,`The Industry Advancement

         12  Cooperative Fund' that has been in place for years

         13  and years, helps to provide support for a lot of

         14  these amazing projects that we have been on the

         15  forefront of doing.

         16                 I am happy to be here on behalf of

         17  the Screen Actors Guild, and in support of this

         18  bill.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         21                 We have been joined by a number of

         22  our colleagues, and I just want to say before I

         23  introduce those colleagues, that as you know, we

         24  held a hearing on December 1st, we move very

         25  quickly, something we do not always do but the
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          2  reason we thought it was particularly important was

          3  the testimony that was brought out at the December

          4  1st hearing as to a number of pilots and films and

          5  television shows that are being contemplated- being

          6  either done in New York City or outside of New York

          7  City, and we thought from a psychological point of

          8  view, and from am actual starting of those shows,

          9  and making the plans to do those shows, that it was

         10  very important that we move expeditiously.

         11                 So, as you can see, we are here today

         12  but, obviously, there were concerns by a number of

         13  my members about minority hiring, minority

         14  expansion, and diversity in the industry, and I am

         15  sure we are going to get to those questions shortly.

         16

         17                 We appreciate the industry for coming

         18  to the table as quickly as they did as well, and

         19  recognize the importance of addressing those

         20  concerns, and then, working with us on the Task

         21  Force.  Of course, this legislation has- the State

         22  Legislation has a four year sunset, and our sunset

         23  will be in conjunction with that, and obviously, we

         24  will be looking when it comes to renewing the

         25  legislation, assuming we pass it today, at some of
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          2  the numbers that are created, so we would hope to

          3  have an ongoing dialog between now and then, and

          4  after that.

          5                 We have been joined by Council Member

          6  Helen Sears from Queens, Council Member Christine

          7  Quinn from Manhattan, Council Member Tracy Boyland

          8  from Brooklyn, Council Member Phil Reed from

          9  Manhattan, Council Member Simcha Felder from

         10  Brooklyn, Council Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn,

         11  and Council Member David Yassky who is the prime

         12  sponsor of this legislation, and I just wanted to

         13  call upon Council Member Yassky for a very brief

         14  statement on the legislation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you so

         16  much, Chair Weprin.

         17                 We all in the Council have been doing

         18  so much work on the issue of chronic unemployment.

         19  We are never going to deal with that fully if we do

         20  not make sure that there are jobs, and this bill

         21  will do something real and concrete and direct to

         22  ensure job growth in New York City.

         23                 I want to really want to thank you,

         24  Chair Weprin, for not just your support of this, but

         25  for the extraordinary speed with which you have
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          2  moved it because this will have an impact on making

          3  sure that productions come to New York rather then

          4  go elsewhere, starting the minute it passes, speed

          5  was of the essence.

          6  I really do appreciate that, and I also want to

          7  thank my colleague, Council Member Gioia, from the

          8  beginning we partnered on this and I really

          9  appreciate his efforts.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         12                 I believe Council Member Perkins had

         13  a series of questions, and I know he has another

         14  committee to go to as well, so, Council Member

         15  Perkins.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         17  very much, Chairman Weprin.

         18                 I do have to preside over a

         19  Governmental Operations Committee, where we will be

         20  overriding some very important legislation related

         21  to our Campaign Finance program and the progressive

         22  legislation that will provide for more transparency

         23  and accountability for those that are going to

         24  participate, even for those that are not going to

         25  participate.
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          2                 So, thank you for accommodating my

          3  schedule.

          4                 I am heartened that we are at a point

          5  here where we are recognizing that the industry has

          6  fallen very short of its responsibilities of

          7  diversity in terms of the hiring opportunities that

          8  this industry creates.

          9                 I am very heartened that this

         10  Council, recognizing that it was in a pivotal

         11  position negotiated to make sure that there was this

         12  Task Force in place that would oversee a diversity

         13  program to guarantee that the embarrassment of being

         14  in the 21st Century and still having diversity

         15  issues would be overcome.

         16                 We are on a very, very important road

         17  and I was very pleased at the first hearing, when it

         18  was so acknowledged that there was a dismal record

         19  of diversity.  And so, I want to say I am happy that

         20  you have responded so readily.

         21                 I do not want the world to think that

         22  the report that you gave is a message that says, "we

         23  have no problem," because you gave a great report

         24  but we still have an extraordinary problem.        In

         25  fact, I would like make a recommendation to you for
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          2  future's sake; the diversity is not reflected at the

          3  table in the way that I think would be most

          4  flattering, most complementary to what we are trying

          5  to do, and there should be that diversity at the

          6  table to send the right message of the commitment.

          7                 So, I just want to say that but I do

          8  not want to be difficult about it.  I just want to

          9  make sure that you are in industry of visual and

         10  that kind of stuff, so.

         11                 MS. JENSEN:  Councilman Perkins, I am

         12  happy to say that I am pinchhitting for Mike Hodge

         13  (phonetic), who is our National Director of EEOC,

         14  our National Chair of EEOC, who appeared at the

         15  December 1st hearing, as you may recall--

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I do recall.

         17                 MS. JENSEN: -- but he is a working

         18  actor, and he is off at a job right now, I am happy

         19  to say.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay, I am

         21  glad that you have one that is working.  But, again,

         22  I did not want to make a big thing about it but

         23  substance and perception are very important in the

         24  business that we are in, both of us.  So, I just

         25  want to put that out there.
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          2                 But on a positive note, I am very

          3  happy that this City has embraced this industry, and

          4  has signaled to the world that we want you here.

          5                 I am even happier that you have

          6  embraced our concerns about diversity, and signaled

          7  to the world that you want everybody to be a part of

          8  this, what you call, moving feast, and we are going

          9  to put some breaks on the movement, and make sure

         10  that it is here for the people of New York City, and

         11  we are going to have brakes even on this public

         12  benefit that we are giving you so that we will be

         13  able to monitor it, and guarantee that what you are

         14  committing to at the table will actually be evident

         15  in the streets in our communities.  So that, if in

         16  fact there is any reneging, then we will have an

         17  opportunity to take away the benefit, and I think

         18  that is very, very important, a very, very mature

         19  way for us to deal with each other.  I think it will

         20  be very productive, and in fact, I am hopeful that

         21  it will become a model for how we deal with other

         22  labor related, benefit related legislation that

         23  comes before this Council.

         24                 We have embraced this concern with a

         25  $10 million workforce development initiative, this
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          2  is complimentary to that concern.  So, I thank you

          3  for joining us in addressing that problem.

          4                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 I have no questions, just wanted to

          6  make the statement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          8  council member.

          9                 Council Member, Margarita Lopez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Good morning.

         11                 I very respectfully had to disagree

         12  with the chairman of this Committee who said that

         13  very rarely we move forward pieces of legislation

         14  expeditiously.

         15                 Take for example, in this Body I have

         16  two pieces of legislation that will take care of

         17  people with disabilities being able to transport

         18  themselves in this City, still today no hearings

         19  have been done for those two pieces of legislation

         20  but yesterday, we took care of animals, and we took

         21  care of the industry but still we have not taken

         22  care of people with disabilities.  Then when we do

         23  care for something, we move expeditiously, saying

         24  that, that does not have anything to do with your

         25  industry.
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          2                 I am a big supporter of the industry

          3  but I just want to point out that when we want to we

          4  fulfill the promise to the people that we are

          5  supposed to deliver.

          6                 Saying that, I have three pieces of

          7  legislation that effect your industry, and they were

          8  put in this Council long ago because three issues

          9  that effect our City in regard of the industry, that

         10  if we do not resolve that, the support that we are

         11  going to give you now, which is very needed and I am

         12  in full support of it, is going to create further

         13  problems.

         14                 Number one; every time that the

         15  industry gets permits and go to our neighborhoods, a

         16  nightmare develops.

         17                 Our communities become very angry

         18  with the industry because there is a lack of

         19  coordination, a lack of making these permits

         20  available in a way that does not create displacement

         21  of people, parking spaces, all over the community.

         22  Case in point; in my community, you tend to film a

         23  lot, and we welcome you very much, but sometimes it

         24  is three and four films at the same time creating an

         25  impossible situation for the people of the community
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          2  to be able to park their cars.  I have a piece of

          3  legislation to deal with that.

          4                 I have another piece of legislation

          5  to deal with the fact that when a community is

          6  utilized in a disproportionate way for filming, then

          7  why then to compensate them for the problems that

          8  they go through, certain percentage of the money

          9  that is charged in the fees to allow you to film,

         10  why that cannot go directly to the communities in

         11  question that are suffering the consequences of what

         12  is happening in there?

         13                 And three, and no less important, I

         14  have a piece of legislation to create a school, a

         15  high school that will develop the skills necessary

         16  for children in our City who, because the public

         17  school predominantly are childrens of color, who

         18  will fulfill the problem of the lack of childrens of

         19  color being graduating and be able to get into the

         20  industry.

         21                 Would you be willing to support those

         22  three pieces of legislation?

         23                 MS. MIELE:  Hi, this is Angela Miele

         24  again with the Motion Picture Association.

         25                 With respect to your first issue with
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          2  the community upheaval and with the filming,

          3  Catherine Oliver (phonetic) who is the Mayor's film

          4  commissioner, addressed that at the previous

          5  hearing, and I think that that is something that

          6  they are trying to work on.

          7                 I cannot personally commit to that

          8  but we can work with them because, obviously, it is

          9  our members that are doing a lot of the filming

         10  here.

         11                 In terms of that coordination, I know

         12  that that was raised by several members, where

         13  people are getting displaced with respect to

         14  parking, and also the types of films.  I think there

         15  was an issue that had been raised with respect to

         16  the type of film that was actually being filmed and

         17  it upset some of the community members.  I think

         18  that Catherine Oliver's office is the one who is

         19  actually addressing that, and I will bring that

         20  personally to her and let her know about that issue.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I am not

         22  asking you about them, I am asking you about you.

         23                 I will be more than glad to give you

         24  the three pieces of legislation that I spoke to you,

         25  for you to look at it and see if you will support

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  it.

          3                 It will be something that at least

          4  you should take a look at it because the items that

          5  I raise here can create, to begin with the first one

          6  of having permits, multi- permits, too many

          7  companies--.

          8                 MS. MIELE:  Right, and I think --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  This can

         10  create a serious, serious problem that eventually

         11  this City will become an enemy of the industry

         12  instead of embracing the industry.

         13                 MS. MIELE:  No, and I appreciate

         14  that, and we hear that in, obviously, the City of

         15  Los Angles where there is numerous filming and other

         16  large cities where there are big filming pockets.  What

         17  I think would be better, and I would be happy to

         18  look at the legislation and work with you on that

         19  but I would rather look at it, and see if there was

         20  an alternative way that we could resolve that

         21  without the legislation, and in terms of whether or

         22  not giving back to the community, I think that that

         23  is something, and I am aware of one of your bills

         24  that you were talking about.

         25                 I just think in terms of the actual

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  filming dollars that go back, I think there are ways

          3  that we could try and work with you on that but I

          4  would like to look at the legislation and see if

          5  there was a way we could resolve some of these

          6  issues.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  How about the

          8  high school? The issue of the creation of a high

          9  school that would develop the skills necessary for

         10  children in our City, from the beginning where we

         11  will have the apprentice program that is needed to

         12  have this high school graduate to be ready to be

         13  able to fulfill the necessary people power that you

         14  need in this industry, and not as I said, people

         15  power- notice I said people power, I did not say man

         16  power.

         17                 MR. SUHN:  If I can help Angela along

         18  with answering this question, which is that, one;

         19  yes, we would like to see your legislation, two; on

         20  the parking fees and the parking permits, do you

         21  know that New York City does not charge any fees for

         22  its permits, unlike L.A., which is one of the things

         23  that helps get films shot here.  So, the fees issue

         24  is small.

         25                 But the issue of schools, which I
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          2  want to address. Currently, we are working with

          3  Councilman Eric Gioia with the East River

          4  Development Alliance in Queensbridge Housing, which

          5  is one of the largest, low- income housing projects

          6  in Queens, right next to Silver Cup Studios, we are

          7  working with a training program and an employment

          8  program.

          9                 I have been involved with`principle

         10  for a day' with several of the local schools, and we

         11  have training programs and outreach with several

         12  schools, and we are working with the guilds and the

         13  unions to expand that.

         14                 We would applaud any efforts if the

         15  Council could move forward to having real programs,

         16  and helping finance programs within the City's

         17  school system for exactly the education that you are

         18  talking about because the problem is there is no

         19  real education program, it has been cut out of the

         20  City school system.  So, I believe many people here

         21  in the Council, who will focus a lot on the

         22  Department of Education, would we applaud those

         23  efforts and I am sure most of us here would really

         24  be glad to work with you on that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then I am glad
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          2  to hear that you will look into that.  I am very

          3  happy.

          4                 I want to call the attention to the

          5  Council that I have that piece of legislation in,

          6  and I would like to be part of the package that is

          7  going to be discussing in regard of this particular

          8  industry, and the other two pieces of legislation

          9  that should not be ignored because it is a custom in

         10  this Council to ignore legislation of some council

         11  members, and embrace legislation of other council

         12  members who have privilege in this Body.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, I will

         14  duly note that, and we will look at that very

         15  carefully.  I assume your comments in the beginning

         16  were not directed personally at me as far as--.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  No, the

         18  Chairman is a gentleman, and a wonderful man, and I

         19  am more than delighted to vote again and again for

         20  him to be chairman of this Committee.  He has my

         21  full support but I question the way that business

         22  have conducted in the Body when I see legislation

         23  pass yesterday here, taking care of people who own

         24  animals in the City, but people who are disabled

         25  cannot be taken care of in the Body, and produce

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  transportation that is adequate for them in the

          3  ferry system or in the taxi system.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          5  Council member.

          6                 Before I call on the next questioner,

          7  Council Member Perkins has to chair the Governmental

          8  Operations Committee for legislation that we are

          9  going to be considering today.  So, I am going to

         10  call on him to vote on the tax credit as well as the

         11  budget mod., coupled together.

         12                 Council Member Perkins.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I vote aye on

         14  all, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         16                 The next questioner is Council Member

         17  Reed, Phil Reed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I thank you

         19  very much, Mr. Chair.

         20                 While I do not serve on your

         21  committee, that would put me in a minority since

         22  almost the rest of the council does but, I am

         23  pleased that we are having this legislation, and I

         24  am moving forward to supporting it when it shows up

         25  on the floor for the full vote today.  But I have
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          2  served on the Government Operations Committee for

          3  the past seven years, and it is fascinating to me

          4  that, especially, that while the industry has been

          5  in denial, this Administration has been in denial

          6  about this problem for seven years because as a

          7  member of that committee, we have had hearings every

          8  single year with the agency that oversees this, and

          9  they act like the problem does not exist.  Or, if we

         10  ever acknowledge that it dos exist, well it is

         11  always the unions, it is always somebody else's

         12  fault, and so my initial reaction was to say,`no',

         13  we are not giving people money to do this.  But I

         14  think we have worked out something, and it is good

         15  to hear from the industry people themselves.  I

         16  think it proves once again that you can use the

         17  weight, the importance of money to help create jobs,

         18  which are important in this City but also around

         19  social policy.  It is fascinating, the Mayor does

         20  not like to talk about social policy but we do.

         21                 I would also recognize and suggest

         22  that the industry, that we sort of get rid of this

         23  word`minority' for once and for all because the City

         24  is talking about diversity.

         25                 As soon as you continue the dialog

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  about majority/minority, somebody is put in a role

          3  that is less powerful than the other one.  We are

          4  not asking for anything.  We are telling you this is

          5  what we are as a diverse city expecting to see, so,

          6  I would not even call Republicans minorities in this

          7  community because we just like to have diversity in

          8  the Council, Jimmy and Dennis.  And you should hire

          9  some Republicans probably too, while you are making

         10  the movies.

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The

         12  Administration might not like it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So, I am

         14  pleased to see this.               We, as the

         15  Council, have taken a lead on this.  We need to

         16  continue in terms of our oversight but it should not

         17  only be our responsibility.

         18                 It should be this Administration's

         19  responsibility to make sure that this happens.

         20                 So, I applaud the efforts on the part

         21  of the Council today, and I am looking forward to

         22  supporting this today on the floor.

         23                 Thank you very much for the

         24  opportunity to speak.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you
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          2  Council member, and the diversity language is a good

          3  one, and it is duly noted that the diversity of the

          4  City of New York should be well reflected in the

          5  industry as well.

          6                 So, we appreciate that comment.

          7                 We have been joined by Council Member

          8  Tish James from Brooklyn.

          9                 The next questioner is Council Member

         10  Albert Vann.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 I am reminded of a statement made by

         14  one of my heroes that says,`because you are invited

         15  to dinner, and you sit at the table, it does not

         16  make you a diner.'  Sometimes I think we think the

         17  invitation of being at the table is a diner.  That

         18  means something somewhere along the way here, if you

         19  think about it.

         20                 I am curious from the gentlemen from

         21  Steiner Studios, Mr. Cella was it?

         22                 MR. CELLA:  Cella.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right, how long

         24  has Steiner Studios been in the Navy Yard now?  How

         25  long have you been there?
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          2                 MR. CELLA:  We started construction

          3  in July of`03.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay.

          5                 MR. CELLA:  And we are opening up, we

          6  opened up this summer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  This summer,

          8  okay.

          9                 So, you do not have the experience

         10  that, say, the Silver Cup Studios have?  They have

         11  indicated a number of programs the they have

         12  initiated in the immediate area, so on and so forth.

         13  You have not gotten to that point yet?  But, you

         14  have plans, is that--.

         15                 MR. CELLA:  Correct, Sir.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: -- accurate?

         17                 MR. CELLA:  We have been working with

         18  the Department of Small Business Services to create

         19  a concierge service within Steiner Studios that will

         20  have a Project Manager that will help coordinate

         21  with a local job office to match people up.

         22                 We have also been working with

         23  Matthew Goldstein at CUNY about setting up a

         24  program, in secondary education, to accomplish that

         25  also.  We have been funding some of these projects,
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          2  and we are funding the project with DBS.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, and is it

          4  an assumption that these programs will recruit,

          5  engage, bring about potential employees who happen

          6  to be of color?

          7                 Is that implied or stated?

          8                 MR. CELLA:  Absolutely, Sir.  It is

          9  what we believe in personally also, as a company,

         10  and David and I as individuals, in bringing in a

         11  community to do that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, because I

         13  am glad they are putting together a program, but

         14  that in and of itself does not tell me if they are

         15  going to contribute to the diversity, goals that we

         16  are trying to establish.

         17                 MR. CELLA:  David and I are both

         18  proud of the fact that during construction, we had

         19  40 percent minority and woman businesses on site by

         20  number of contracts, and 28 percent by dollar, so we

         21  exceeded whatever goals are out there by the City in

         22  working to accomplish this.

         23                 We have worked also with the unions

         24  to increase the minority manpower on the job from

         25  construction, and I am not going to tell you that we
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          2  were successful on that.  It is an uphill battle for

          3  every builder in New York to work with the unions to

          4  get enough minority participation to make it look

          5  the way we want it to look.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right, right.

          7                 I do have an appointee to that board,

          8  and I look forward to getting with you post-

          9  hearing, and seeing how I can be helpful in the

         10  goals and objects you have established relative to

         11  that program.

         12                 MR. CELLA:  No problem, I welcome the

         13  opportunity to serve with you, and to serve and

         14  create what I know we believe in, and I am sure you

         15  believe in too.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  All right,

         17  thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Council Member Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 As Angela knows, I represent the

         24  Upper West Side, and we have been working overtime

         25  to get jobs for the new Time Warner Building, which
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          2  is similar in the sense that it is a new structure.

          3  I came in after construction, so I was focused on

          4  the permanent jobs and working with Small Business,

          5  and we managed to get about 270 jobs permanent in

          6  that building, all union.  But it is a fact, and I

          7  have been to all the One- Stop Centers, and I have

          8  been to all of the 11 New York State Department of

          9  Employment Centers personally and met with the

         10  staff.

         11                 I think what is happening is these

         12  Centers are good in getting the GED, and getting the

         13  resume, and getting the research but it is not

         14  always a match between the people going into the

         15  One- Stop, and the jobs at the other end.

         16                 So my question is, for the industry,

         17  I can see what you are doing in Brooklyn but between

         18  the State Department of Labor, the non- profits

         19  working with the One- Stops, and the One Stops, my

         20  opinion would be- because a lot of people are going

         21  to these modern office buildings looking for jobs,

         22  and it is my opinion that there is not always the

         23  best coordination in the sense that there are jobs

         24  out there, sometimes they are not getting into the

         25  database.  There are two data bases, the State has
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          2  one, and the City has one.  Wouldn't it be nice if

          3  there was one, I could go into the whole Legacy

          4  System, not worth it today.  But the fact of the

          5  matter is you need to, if you are going to reach

          6  some of this community, be part of this state and

          7  city application job data base.

          8                 So, I am just wondering how the

          9  industry is thinking about that?

         10                 In addition, of course, is the big

         11  push to the credit of Bill Perkins, Al Vann and the

         12  caucus here, that they are working on the work force

         13  effort.  But right now, the Centers are there, the

         14  State Department of Labor is there, so I am just

         15  wondering how do you work with that process, in

         16  addition to the one that is happening in Brooklyn?

         17                 MR. SUHN:  If I can suggest, is that

         18  the film industry is a very quick moving industry,

         19  and it hires very quickly, and from its immediate

         20  pool.

         21                 If you are trying to go through the

         22  state or the city's labor pools, it is not going to

         23  work well.  You will not be hiring people, whether

         24  they are of any color, white or black.  It is really

         25  getting them into the guilds, it is getting them
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          2  into the unions, and setting up the task force that

          3  you have suggested, which I really think is very

          4  successful in getting the real employers, which are

          5  the producers and the studios that make the

          6  decisions to work with the unions and the guilds, to

          7  let people of color into the unions, and get them

          8  the jobs once they are in the unions.

          9                 It is not really working through any

         10  of the government agencies.  It is really getting

         11  people down to the table to work together.

         12                 The other thing that was suggested

         13  earlier with another councilman, was the education

         14  system.  It is to really get New York, which is the

         15  center of entertainment outside of California, and

         16  we have a tremendous amount of work here in New

         17  York, is to really educate our kids in the public

         18  school system about the great job opportunities

         19  there.

         20                 So, I really applaud all your

         21  thoughts of doing that, but really get right to the

         22  heart of it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, I guess

         24  that says to me that the State Department and the

         25  City Department need to be much more responsive
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          2  though.  In other words, we are doing the task force

          3  but there are also people in those Centers.  So,

          4  they need to change their policies.

          5                 MR. CELLA:  That is also why we are

          6  working with a Project Manager and we are funding

          7  Project Managers to work within our facility with

          8  the four or five production companies that are on

          9  site.  So we are matching up the needs of the

         10  production companies with those offices, and we are

         11  being pro- active in recruiting it, and reaching out

         12  to the production companies.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I appreciate

         14  that.  I think what happens is the other offices

         15  need to use that model more readily.

         16                 The second quick question is to pick

         17  up on Council Member Lopez, which is that I also

         18  support this bill, my name is on it, I know many,

         19  many people who are part of the, sort of, below the

         20  radar, good jobs, to pay their rent as a result, non

         21  traditional in the sense they are sometimes drinking

         22  when they are not working for you, but that is okay.

         23    They are working for you and paying the rent as a

         24  result of their work.  They are not drinking when

         25  they are working for you.
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          2                 The fact of the matter is there is

          3  still the fact that there is a lot of community

          4  concern.  One of the issues, we work with Catherine

          5  Oliver, is that when you come to the neighborhood,

          6  the cones go up and the strings, so that you cannot

          7  park the night before even though it says you are

          8  going to start the movie production, and there is no

          9  parking in the morning.

         10                 All I am saying is, think about it.

         11  Maybe what you should say is,`there is no parking in

         12  the evening' if that is what you really mean.

         13  People are attached to their car.  It is the most

         14  important item of their life.  I do not have a car.

         15  I do not feel that way.  But, my constituents do.

         16  So when you tell them there is no parking, it is

         17  like saying you do not have a house, and you need to

         18  think about that when you come into our city.  It is

         19  a very expensive item that car, people put it on the

         20  street because they cannot afford parking, and they

         21  spend their whole life going alternate side of the

         22  street.  If you have not experienced it, you do not

         23  understand it.  If you do not live in the City, you

         24  do not understand it.

         25                 So I am just saying that that whole
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          2  issue of the car is something you need to think

          3  about when you are in the neighborhood.

          4                 MS. JENSEN:  Chairman, can I just

          5  give a quick response?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, absolutely.

          7                 MS. JENSEN:  Thank you very much.

          8                 First of all, having lived on the

          9  Upper West Side for many years, I know exactly what

         10  you are talking about, and while I have not been

         11  here representing the unions and not really in a

         12  position to impact that, I do know that- my hope is

         13  that this is going to drive more work to our studio

         14  spaces, which will hopefully, if that is where the

         15  focus of this legislation is, so, I hope that we can

         16  all be heartened a little bit by that, so maybe they

         17  will be in the studios, and not so much on all the

         18  streets all the time but that is a little bit

         19  anecdotal.

         20                 I did want to talk about a couple of

         21  things because I am hearing- I know you are talking

         22  about construction and other trades as well in the

         23  mix here but I wanted to kind of clarify.  I am not

         24  sure everyone's always clear how our entertainment,

         25  certain entertainment unions work because we are a
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          2  little different than a lot of them.  SAG, AFTRA,

          3  the DGA, that is the Directors Guild, and IATSE,

          4  none of us are hiring halls.  We do not receive the

          5  calls and then determine who shows up on the set to

          6  do the work that day. Those decisions are in the

          7  hands of film makers, and of the producers and

          8  studios, et cetera.

          9                 Certainly, encouraging a diverse

         10  content really fills over in every other area, we

         11  believe, and that makes a big difference.  That is

         12  why our programs tend to support empowerment of an

         13  access, you know I was looking at this data because

         14  I wanted to make sure I was really right on this,

         15  but our breakdown of ethnic diversity is very close

         16  to that of United States.

         17                 We have slightly more African-

         18  Americans in our membership of the union, than in

         19  the general population.  Just wanted you to know

         20  that because we do work very hard, and it has been

         21  an ongoing process, and it was like the Non-

         22  Traditional Casting Project has a tremendous data

         23  base for accessing a diverse group, including people

         24  with disabilities, that is the kind of thing we hope

         25  we can provide even though we are not in the
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          2  position to determine who gets hired out of our pool

          3  of very diverse membership.  So, I just wanted to

          4  put that out there.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          7                 Council Member McMahon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 I think it is important that we

         11  understand that, that you understand that as a Body

         12  of the City Council that we have to act a little bit

         13  like my favorite actor, who is probably not a member

         14  of your guild, and that is Shrek, and you remember

         15  Shrek, his goal--.

         16                 MS. JENSEN:  The voice is, Mike

         17  Meyers is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The voice

         19  is, okay, but the idea there is that we have to peel

         20  away from the onion and get through the layers and,

         21  certainly. The industry itself presents itself as

         22  one that is very glamorous and has a great appeal.

         23  But we as a Body are being asked to favor this

         24  industry over other industries by giving it a

         25  favorable tax treatment, and that is why you get
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          2  questions, certainly, why your industry appears to

          3  us to be not up to speed on issues of affirmative

          4  action in terms of employing people that are more

          5  representative of the general population of New York

          6  City, and it is a little concerning to me that there

          7  are all these efforts, after the fact, that you are

          8  asking the City Council to do something now that

          9  these efforts to work with the Task Force on behalf

         10  of the Council and get up to speed.

         11                 The other great concern I have, and

         12  this is going to be my question for the gentleman

         13  from Silver Cup and from Steiner Studios, that we

         14  are giving a citywide tax credit to an industry

         15  that, certainly in my borough Staten Island, does

         16  not favor very well.  There is not that much work

         17  there, and in fact, we had an incident where we

         18  almost had a studio.

         19                 As you know, Danny Aiello and others

         20  were trying to build a studio on Staten Island, and

         21  there are many of us, and Mr. Aiello is certainly in

         22  this category I believe, who feel that your studios

         23  worked with the City's Economic Development

         24  Corporation to put a `kabash' on that studio.

         25                 So I think it is important, just as
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          2  my colleagues represent those who they have to

          3  represent, I have to ask as well, would you please

          4  comment on that, and tell me whether or not either

          5  of your organizations ever had any conversations

          6  with EDC in terms of not allowing the Stapleton

          7  Studio on Staten Island to go forward?

          8                 MR. CELLA:  The only activity that we

          9  had with it, and first of all, we are believers that

         10  the more facilities out there, the more work will

         11  come here, and the better-- Stuart and I and the

         12  Kaufman Organization (phonetic) in Chelsea Piers

         13  were bid.

         14                 The only conversations that anyone of

         15  my partners and I ever had with the Department of

         16  Economic Development was in gathering information

         17  that was subpoenaed by our organization and by the

         18  City, and in responding to questions that were

         19  thrown to us by the press.  We did not actively go

         20  out to kill it.  I know Stuart never actively went

         21  out of his way to kill my project when we were tying

         22  to move it forward.

         23                 MR. SUHN:  I would be glad to answer

         24  that question also on the record, which is no we did

         25  not do anything active.
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          2                 I have been asked to look at studios

          3  everywhere from Canada to all the way out in the

          4  Hamptons, and actually there is a studio in the

          5  Hamptons.  I mean, logistics and geography has a lot

          6  to play with it, and I think that was one of the

          7  issues with Stapleton, aside from all the politics

          8  behind it.

          9                 One of the things the Mayor himself

         10  one time was asking me when he was doing the State

         11  of the City Address out at Silver Cup, he wanted to

         12  know which Steiner Studios, the Brooklyn Navy Yard

         13  hurt Silver Cup, and I said`it will certainly make

         14  it more competitive', but one of the great things

         15  about New York City is as an economic center, as a

         16  fashion capital, as the financial capital of the

         17  world, is because we have so much depth in

         18  competition.  In the banking industries, in Wall

         19  Street, and everything else, and I said "I really

         20  applaud what Steiner Studios is doing," it will

         21  certainly be challenging, and hopefully more work

         22  will be coming.  We did not anticipate all the tax

         23  incentives. Our goals were for that but i said, "as

         24  long as the playing field was kept even", which is

         25  one of the issues why I am glad this Council the
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          2  citywide, and why the state did it statewide, so it

          3  is an even playing field for all of the facilities.

          4                 Hopefully someday when something is

          5  built in Staten Island, it will be able to benefit

          6  from this also.  But also, as I am sure you know a

          7  lot of location work comes to Staten Island. Like

          8  when we had Richard Dreyfuss doing the Education of

          9  Max Bickford, they did a lot of work in Staten

         10  Island because it looked like- they could make it

         11  look like it was Upstate or somewhere else.  And

         12  Staten Island has a lot of opportunity there for

         13  film work in there and jobs.

         14                 I hope I answered the question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         16  Council member.

         17                 Council Member James.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  This piece of

         19  legislation, I believe, is premature.  In fact if I

         20  had my druthers, I would delay it.

         21                 The reason why I would do that is

         22  because on January 15th this Body will be issuing a

         23  disparity study, which will be studying several

         24  industries throughout the City of New York to

         25  determine the need for employment within communities
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          2  of color, and establishing goals and time tables for

          3  certain industries.

          4                 It is similar to Executive Law 815- A

          5  on the state level, and we would be mirroring

          6  similar legislation, which would be establishing

          7  goals and time tables for various industries

          8  throughout the City of New York.  That is why at

          9  this point of time, I think this piece of

         10  legislation is premature.

         11                 That study will come out on January

         12  15th, the date of Martin Luther King's birthday.  I

         13  do not believe we should be passing this piece of

         14  legislation in the absence of a disparity study that

         15  studies the film industry.

         16                 I recognize that I have asked this

         17  question time and time again with regards to the

         18  demographics of this industry, and the last time

         19  that I asked the question at the hearing that we

         20  held on this issue before the panel indicated that

         21  they did not track those numbers.  Some do not, the

         22  majority of them did not, and no one knew how many

         23  people of color were employed in the various

         24  industries.

         25                 Steiner Studios, and I do not mean to
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          2  pick on Steiner Studios, but I have to only because

          3  my frame of reference is that they are located in my

          4  district.  I share it, obviously, with other elected

          5  officials but I also know that it is located next to

          6  Farragut Public Housing where there is 70 percent

          7  unemployment, and if we are to create an even

          8  playing field, I need to create a playing field for

          9  the residents of Farragut and other communities that

         10  look like Farragut, where there is high rates of

         11  unemployment.  And what I am tired of seeing day in

         12  and day out in this Body, on the state level, and

         13  the federal level, are side agreements where

         14  basically the agreement says, "we are going to make

         15  best efforts", that is it, "best efforts", and those

         16  efforts never materialize, and we still have

         17  unemployment and we continue and continue to pass

         18  legislation and we talk a good talk but nothing,

         19  nothing is enacted into law which says you have got

         20  to hire "X", you have got to hire where there are

         21  pockets of unemployment, you have got to hire here.

         22  We are doing nothing to address the structural

         23  unemployment that I deal with on a daily basis

         24  throughout the City of New York.  And so to me, this

         25  notion of an even playing field, it has been thrown
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          2  out there but it does not apply in my situation

          3  because no one is focused on addressing the high

          4  rate of unemployment, and here we have an

          5  opportunity to do that.

          6                 I recognize that your industry cannot

          7  solve all of the problems, I have recognized that

          8  but clearly, as we give you public dollars, the

          9  burden falls on your shoulder.  And so, I see that

         10  you are going to establish this Task Force but there

         11  are no details.  I see that the legislation does not

         12  speak about unemployment.  I see that all these

         13  letters say we are going to do "X, Y and Z", we are

         14  going to hire locally, we are going to do this, we

         15  are going to do that but there is no leverage.

         16  There is nothing other than what you say on the

         17  record, your good will, and I guess you are supposed

         18  to stand here and say, "trust me, trust me."

         19                 Unfortunately, we have trusted so

         20  many industries throughout the City of New York, and

         21  they have all failed us.  I am still looking at 70

         22  percent unemployment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council member,

         24  you raised some good points, and if it is any

         25  consolation, I know it is still a long way off,
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          2  there is a sunset in this legislation, and that date

          3  is August 2008.

          4                 Although it seems to be far away, it

          5  does allow the industry to come back to the table,

          6  and at that point we should see raw data, hard

          7  numbers, comparisons, and I would hope the City

          8  Council will hold the industry to that standard.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Well, let me

         10  just go on and talk about, a little bit about this

         11  Task Force and can someone speak to the issue of

         12  this Task Force, and how it plans to increase

         13  education, outreach, and increase minority and woman

         14  participation in the film and television industry?

         15                 How do you propose that we are going

         16  to do this with this Task Force?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Mr. Suhn.

         18                 MR. SUHN:  If I can just try and back

         19  up some of the things you are saying, as I mentioned

         20  earlier, we are next to Queensbridge Houses, which I

         21  am sure you know also, is not as high unemployment I

         22  am glad to say but also, quite a bit of minority

         23  representation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

         25                 MR. SUHN:  We have been working with
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          2  Councilman Gioia, and as I said, the East River

          3  Development Alliance in job outreach.  We have

          4  already hired some people from the community, and I

          5  think- I would encourage Steiner Studios, I am sure

          6  they will work also through their agency, and they

          7  already are with you and the other groups in the

          8  area because you need to be part of the community to

          9  be, not just for good reasons but really to be part

         10  of New York City, otherwise you are not going to be

         11  successful.

         12                 So, I really hope that it will work

         13  out, and you will see some improvement.

         14                 The other thing is that the industry,

         15  to speak about the Task Force because again the Task

         16  Force, as I understand it, and I hope it will

         17  actually achieve its goal, is that organized labor

         18  here, represented by the unions and the guilds, they

         19  are hard to get into if you are not a legacy.  It

         20  does not even matter what color you are, it is about

         21  a legacy, and it is about tradition.

         22                 I am not a member of the guilds or

         23  the unions, I am not in contract with them, I just

         24  hear anecdotal stories.  It is improving, and a lot

         25  of them actually have really great training
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          2  programs.  SAG on my left, Directors Guild of

          3  America, who is not here, it is their number one

          4  mandate to actually open up and really get people

          5  into the unions of minority background, and people

          6  of color, and they have been successful at it.

          7                 The next trick is, and where the Task

          8  Force will hopefully be successful is bringing

          9  together the employers, the studios, the studio

         10  executives, and the unions to work together to put

         11  the people who are now trained and enter the unions

         12  and give them the jobs, and that is where also all

         13  these programs are.

         14                 And ultimately, this tax credit here,

         15  what it will do, will increase the employment base

         16  because the way to really have new jobs for people

         17  of color is to have more jobs here in New York City,

         18  and this is already having a lot of impact for more

         19  people to come to New York, and then we will be able

         20  to employ more people and change the complexion.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Mr. Suhn, I

         22  just got confirmation from my colleague that, in

         23  fact, you have been hiring from Queensbridge, and

         24  you are to be congratulated, and I thank you.

         25                 I would just hope that Steiner Studio
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          2  would do that. We have had two meetings, it was

          3  after several phone calls and when I went out and

          4  had to speak someone else to get you to return my

          5  phone call, and we have not had any negotiation or

          6  needed discussion about this Task Force.

          7                 You mention in your letter, all these

          8  organizations, this Fort Greene works that I do not

          9  know who they represent even though I represent Fort

         10  Greene, this Downtown Community Television Center, I

         11  have heard of them, they have not had any

         12  communication with me, again, if in fact we are to

         13  address the needs of the community, you really need

         14  to sit down with the community, and I believe the

         15  best place to start with is the local elected

         16  official.

         17                 MR. CELLA:  I will not argue with you

         18  on that in working with you Tish.

         19                 The Fort Greene works and the

         20  Downtown Brooklyn Television thing, that contract

         21  right now is going through the Vendex process at

         22  City Hall, and they will be in place when DOI

         23  approves it or whoever approves Vendex, moves it

         24  through, that contract will be in place.

         25                 We have been hiring from the
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          2  community.  We hired from the community during

          3  construction, and we have continued to do that as we

          4  speak, as we increased the number of permanent jobs,

          5  non- construction jobs at Steiner Studios.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I would like

          7  to sit down with you so we can- I would like to see

          8  who you have hired from the community because the

          9  community has indicated, the vast majority of the

         10  people from Ingersoll, Whitman and Farragut said

         11  that they have reached out and, unfortunately, to no

         12  avail.

         13                 So, I am going to give you one, I am

         14  going to vote on this.  I will vote up on it, I am

         15  going to vote yes on this, and basically right now,

         16  all I have is your word, and I hope you will honor

         17  your word, and you will honor your commitment today,

         18  to this Body, and to the constituents that I

         19  represent.

         20                 It is really not about me, it is

         21  about serving the needs of the community.  I have

         22  got too many people who are hurting in my district.

         23                 MR. CELLA:  Well Tish, in advance I

         24  will thank you. It is something we intend to honor.

         25  It is what we believe in.
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          2                 As Eric sits right next to you at

          3  this panel, he knows David's philosophy as well as I

          4  do in what his core beliefs are.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Philosophy is

          6  one thing, but action is another, and his experience

          7  right now is with Mr. Suhn, and he has just

          8  indicated to me that Suhn has done an excellent job.

          9    I cannot say that for you.

         10                 MR. CELLA:  It is what we believe in.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         12                 MR. CELLA:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         14  Council member.

         15                 Council Member Gioia.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you very

         17  much, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 I would like to thank you, and

         19  Council Member Yassky for your leadership on this

         20  very important issue.

         21                 I am very please to hear the

         22  discussion today.

         23                 It is- I think it may have been the

         24  very first hearing that we- well, maybe it was not

         25  the first but one of the first ten hearings that I
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          2  sat in as a member of the city council when the

          3  Lower Manhattan Development Corporation came before

          4  us and had an embarrassing record of diversity, and

          5  after a series of questions, pretty hard hitting

          6  questions from, I believe it was Council Member Vann

          7  and myself and a few others, they actually changed

          8  their hiring practices, and six months later had a

          9  much improved record.

         10                 Part of the roll of this Body is to

         11  shine light on sometimes uncomfortable areas.  We

         12  believe that sunlight is oftentimes the best

         13  disinfectant, and I am pleased we have had this

         14  discussion today.

         15                 Bringing it away from a kind of

         16  philosophical area, as Council Member James

         17  mentioned, I represent an area- there is a lot of

         18  talk about two America's.  Very rarely is it as

         19  stark and as clearly delineated as in my district.

         20                 You have heard me talk many times

         21  about Long Island City, and indeed, Citi Group and

         22  Met Life and many companies from around the world

         23  have begun to invest there, and south of the

         24  Queenborough Bridge is in the midst of a economic,

         25  commercial and residential renaissance.  To the
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          2  north of the bridge, I represent Queensbridge and

          3  Ravenswood Houses, just slightly north of that is

          4  Astoria Houses, represented by Council Member

          5  Vallone, and then slightly east of that is Woodside

          6  Houses.

          7                 Queensbridge is the biggest housing

          8  development in the United States of America.  The

          9  four of them together is some of the densest public

         10  housing, and densest poverty really anywhere in the

         11  world, and it has been disturbing to me to see the

         12  lack of opportunity.  The lack, whether it be the

         13  fact that you have to walk a mile to deposit a check

         14  in a bank, or the fact that you cannot get a good

         15  cup of coffee on 21st Street, due to the fact that

         16  there are just simply not jobs for people who are

         17  willing to work hard every single day.

         18                 I have been really very pleased with

         19  the way Silver Cup Studios has actually invested in

         20  Queensbridge, been a good neighbor to Queensbridge,

         21  and been a partner with the East River Development

         22  Alliance to begin to almost create a dating service

         23  of finding needs and finding wants, and bringing

         24  them together and figuring out ways, with our help,

         25  to even create training to make sure people have the
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          2  skill sets that they need for their jobs.

          3                 I do not have that specific

          4  experience with Steiner Studios but as Mr. Cella

          5  mentions, I do believe that that is Mr. Steiner and

          6  Mr. Cella's philosophy, and I am confident that

          7  moving forward, that they will take the example of

          8  Silver Cup and make, you know, take the rhetoric

          9  that we have had today and nail it to the

         10  procrustean bed of reality, and make diversity

         11  hiring a real priority.

         12                 Let me just say this, and Councilman

         13  Oddo made this point at the last hearing.  All too

         14  often in government, when you are dealing with a

         15  budget and there is a budget shortfall, there are

         16  two knee- jerk reactions.  We have two knees, and

         17  each knee goes out, and one says,`raise taxes' and

         18  the other says,`cut services', and that has been the

         19  two knee jerks for as long as government has been

         20  around.  Oftentimes, both are necessary.

         21                 However, there is a better way, and

         22  that way is to grow the economy, and when I look at

         23  this, and I look at this bill what I see, if we were

         24  in Iowa, we would be talking about agriculture, if

         25  we were in Detroit we would be talking about making
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          2  automobiles but we are in New York, and New York is

          3  the idea capital of the world.  It is the media

          4  capital of the world, and what we are talking about

          5  today is fostering and growing an industry that is

          6  critically important to the New York City economy. The

          7  opportunity we have is as we grow the economy, and

          8  grow this industry, we can correct historic wrongs,

          9  and we can make sure that those who have been left

         10  out will be brought in to create, not only economic

         11  opportunity for them, but also because we believe it

         12  is good for the entire City, and that is my

         13  statement on this bill.

         14                 I am strongly supportive of it, not

         15  only is it good for my district but I believe it is

         16  good for the City.

         17                 Thank you for your time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         19  Councilmember, and thank you for your leadership as

         20  one of the prime sponsors in moving this legislation

         21  along.

         22                 We have one more questioner, and then

         23  I would ask any other members that want to speak, if

         24  they could speak when we explain the vote because we

         25  have a budget modification, we have the finance
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          2  staff here ready to explain any issues on the budget

          3  modification, and we have to go to a Stated Meeting

          4  as well.

          5                 So, the last questioner on this issue

          6  is Council Member Simcha Felder.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Good

          8  afternoon.

          9                 I just wanted to echo some of what

         10  Council Member James asked, and talk about the fact

         11  that there is joblessness throughout the City, in my

         12  district as well.

         13                 I would like to know what you are

         14  doing in terms of hiring Orthodox Jews, or Hasidim

         15  for that matter, or people in Bensonhurst, we have

         16  Asians, there is a lot of joblessness there, and

         17  this is very serious.  Although, I know I am

         18  supposed to make a joke, this is not funny to me

         19  whatsoever.

         20                 I am delighted about the commitments

         21  and the negotiations that are going on to help

         22  various communities throughout the City, and I would

         23  like those negotiations to go on throughout the

         24  City, so I am, for the record- I have no experience

         25  of your not returning my calls because I never
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          2  called you. Although, I would like to say I called

          3  you and you did not return my call.  That was a

          4  joke.

          5                 So, do you want to say anything?

          6                 MR. CELLA:  You know, we believe in

          7  inclusion for all peoples, and Hasidam and Orthodox

          8  are part of all peoples, and it is part of, again,

          9  our philosophy.  David and I have worked very hard

         10  with all the organizations that we both serve on, on

         11  inclusionary things, and we are both very active in

         12  APAC (phonetic), and several Jewish organizations

         13  and major Jewish charities.

         14                 So, it is what we believe it, it is

         15  what we want to create, not just for people of

         16  colors but for all people.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I appreciate

         18  that very much but the fact that you described APAC,

         19  it is clear to me that you really do not understand

         20  that much about what I am saying.  I would like to

         21  help you understand more.

         22                 MR. CELLA:  I welcome the opportunity

         23  to sit down and talk with you, and bring your

         24  concerns to the Task Force.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, that is
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          2  all.

          3                 MR. CELLA:  And please come to the

          4  Task Force.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Well, we

          6  appreciate it. Thank you very much.

          7                 MR. CELLA:  You are welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          9                 We are going to be taking a vote on

         10  the tax credit, along with the budget modification,

         11  which we have to move along. We will get everybody

         12  out before 1 o'clock, hopefully.

         13                 Thank you, ladies and gentlemen of

         14  the panel, and I know you are all going to be

         15  accessible as this process goes along, and I know

         16  you are all committed to working with us.  I know

         17  you are in the City, you are committed to the City,

         18  and I know you are going to be working, ongoing,

         19  after this legislation passes with the Task Force,

         20  and to monitor on a regular basis.

         21                 MR. CELLA:  Thank you, Chairman

         22  Weprin, for all of your help, and your leadership on

         23  this matter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         25                 We are going to vote together with
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          2  the budget modification.  We need a quorum for both.

          3                 Can I have the Finance Staff come up

          4  on the budget modification to answer any questions?

          5                 If members could stay around because

          6  we are going to need a quorum for votes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  All right, who

          8  wants to go first?

          9                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  We will introduce

         10  ourselves.

         11                 Frank Tramontano, City Council

         12  Finance Division.

         13                 MR. ZANGERLE:  Pablo Zangerle, City

         14  Council Finance Division.

         15                 MS. EMANUEL:  Staci Emanuel, City

         16  Council Finance Division.

         17                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Okay, so what you

         18  have in front of you are two MN's that represent the

         19  implementation of the City funds for the budget

         20  modification for the first quarter as presented by

         21  the Mayor.

         22                 MN1 is the expense modification, and

         23  that recognizes transfers between agencies outlined

         24  as in the October plan.  In addition, it adds some

         25  money to education and puts some money aside for
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          2  energy needs, while recognizing some reduction

          3  savings in debt service.

          4                 Then, MN2 represents the revenue

          5  increases to the City's budget for the current year

          6  of $553 million, and that is being allocated to the

          7  General Reserve.

          8                 We pick up some money from MACK for

          9  that for this year, and $354 million is being added

         10  to the Budget Stabilization Account, which is going

         11  to reduce next years budget gap along with other

         12  revenue changes and expense changes projected for

         13  next year, so that the budget gap next year goes

         14  down to about $3 billion, from $3.7.

         15                 We will take any questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Council

         17  Member Oddo had a question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you.

         19                 Cheech, the actual number in terms of

         20  additional revenue from taxes is $800 million, is

         21  that correct?

         22                 MR. ZANGERLE:  That is correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay, and we

         24  reached the $553 million net number because there is

         25  a shortfall to the tune of $400 million from federal
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          2  and state adjustments.

          3                 Could you just explain the federal

          4  and state adjustments of $400 million?

          5                 MR. ZANGERLE:  At budget adoption,

          6  the Administration had put up $400 million in

          7  anticipated but not specific aid to the City.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  And that just

          9  obviously has not materialized?

         10                 MR. ZANGERLE:  It has not

         11  materialized, however, the sales tax exemption for

         12  clothing items costing less than $110, the

         13  restoration of that exemption was delayed until the

         14  end of May 2005, and that generated another roughly

         15  $180 million for the City.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay, so does

         17  the Administration relay to you its belief that it

         18  will realize any of that $400 million, or do you

         19  folks, do they relay to you when they relay the MN2

         20  to you or no?

         21                 MR. ZANGERLE:  Essentially at this

         22  time, they have taken it off the table but we can

         23  expect that with the release of the Preliminary

         24  Budget, that they may have a new agenda with the

         25  State.

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  And just to follow

          3  up, in the Fiscal Year 2006 plan to close the gap,

          4  the Mayor has proposed $950 million to be coming

          5  from the state and federal aid, of which is

          6  unspecified at this date.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So, $950

          8  million on top of the $400 million that never

          9  happened?

         10                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Right, the $400

         11  million has now gone.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  By the way

         14  Council member, it is state aid not federal aid as

         15  far as I know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Oh, it is

         17  federal and state adjustments but we are just

         18  talking state.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I was told it is

         20  state aid, the $400 million.

         21                 MR. ZANGERLE:  It is state aid.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay, just

         23  state aid.

         24                 All right, one last question, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 Cheech, is the $800 million in

          3  additional tax revenue, in your experience in the

          4  Council, is that typical, is that an average

          5  modification, is that an unusual modification in

          6  terms of being bigger than usual, or is it--.

          7                 MR. ZANGERLE:  There have been

          8  previous tax revenue modifications that have been of

          9  this magnitude or slightly more.             This is

         10  generally a sign of a stable or even slightly

         11  stronger economy going forward, and that is what

         12  they are anticipating.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  All

         14  right, thank you very much.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         17  Council member.

         18                 Council Member Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 My question is something that I

         22  should probably know the answer to but in the

         23  expense, which I guess is MN1, the listing of the

         24  Fifth grade Saturday classes, and all the OTPS

         25  changes that are listed here, those are issues that
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          2  were agreed upon previous to the mod?

          3                 I am just trying to understand how

          4  this list of- comes about.

          5                 MS. EMANUEL:  Well, the City puts

          6  together their financial plan, it was in the October

          7  financial plan that was released to the Financial

          8  Control Board of new money; $87 million going into

          9  the Department of Education, which included some of

         10  the details that you see there.

         11                 The realignments is something that

         12  the Department of Ed. Or the City usually gives us

         13  during the budget modification, they are realigning

         14  the education budget to where spending is actually

         15  taking place, principals often making different

         16  decisions at the school level, and this changes- the

         17  realignments reflect those changes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so that

         19  is just basically across the board if they are other

         20  agencies, cultural or whatever, that is the same

         21  process?

         22                 MS. EMANUEL:  Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  And

         24  then the other question is will there be, I mean I

         25  think normally we would just have one budget mod,
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          2  that is the situation here too?

          3                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Are you talking

          4  about just for the year, or for this particular?

          5  No, I mean, generally the Mayor has to modify the

          6  budget three times during the year.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  I mean, technically,

          9  we are supposed to be voting on the mods each time

         10  he modifies.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

         12                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  This is a reflection

         13  of doing what the Council's authority is, and to

         14  modify the budget when he does a new plan.

         15                 So, I would suspect if this trend

         16  continues, we will be doing it again in the January

         17  Plan, and then again at the Executive Budget.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, but it

         19  is not usual that you find money in this kind of

         20  situation?

         21                 MR. TRAMONTANO:   No, in fact it is

         22  but what has happened in the past, for at least the

         23  previous two years I believe, it that we did not do

         24  the modification in November when we probably should

         25  have, and waited and combined it with January and
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          2  done it then.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right, okay,

          4  thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Felder.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  With your

          8  permission, Mr. Chair, I would like to raise the

          9  issue again about the`Memorandum of Understanding'

         10  that was supposed to be resolved months ago with

         11  regard to capital projects that were put in the

         12  budget, not only this past year, the year before,

         13  and the year before for non- profit agencies in our

         14  districts, and that money is still laying around.

         15                 One minute, I want to give you a

         16  little bit more of a hard time.  There is no

         17  question the Finance Staff has been doing whatever

         18  it can but I am asking my colleagues, now it may be

         19  that I am the only one that has this problem, and if

         20  it is my problem, it is my problem.

         21                 But if this problem exists, as

         22  Councilman McMahon says,`my problem is his problem'.

         23    And as Councilman Oddo said,`his problem is his

         24  problem'.

         25                 But the question remains, there are
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          2  millions of dollars that have been allocated to non-

          3  profit organizations in the Capital Budget over the

          4  last three years that are still laying around.

          5                 During the budget that we passed in

          6  June, I asked the budget director, Mr. Page, "what

          7  is the story with this`Memorandum of

          8  Understanding'", and the chair was there, and he

          9  pursued it further, and I thank you.  And he said,

         10   "within a few weeks we will have this resolved,

         11  there will be clear delineation as to how this gets

         12  done and that will be the end of it".

         13                 I would like to know what the story

         14  is.  If we are never going to get the money, maybe

         15  we get permission to take the money and give it to

         16  Parks, give it to somebody else.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  No, they have

         18  not answered. They have not answered because there

         19  was an agreement reached last week.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  In writing,

         22  right?

         23                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Well, I think we are

         24  of the opinion that that is money that the Council,

         25  obviously, has a right to do and has a right to move
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          2  forward.  I mean, it is never going to be from our

          3  perspective that we are going to give that up.  But

          4  our great counsel, Jim Caras, who has also been

          5  doing this and the MOU and the film tax credit and

          6  the Hudson Yards, and everything else that he is

          7  overworked, negotiated this- or was part of the- he

          8  could probably tell you the best about it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Sounds like you

         10  are lobbying for a pay raise for the Counsel.

         11                 MR. CARAS:  He is being sarcastic.

         12                 As of yesterday, we finalized the

         13  MOU, and in essence it calls- in construction

         14  projects money of amounts less than $500,000 in

         15  total city funds will not be spent by OMB.

         16                 Money that reaches the $500,00

         17  threshold, will be moved.  That is for projects

         18  going forward.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  It could be done

         20  over two years though.

         21                 MR. CARAS:  And, right, that is a two

         22  year period of time, so if you put in $250,000 one

         23  year, and $250,000 the next year, you can reach that

         24  $500,000 threshold.  The money will move forward.

         25  For projects--.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And equipment

          3  year to year, $100,000 for equipment.

          4                 MR. CARAS:  No, equipment there is no

          5  limit, other than the limit in the capital

          6  eligibility, which I think Cheech

          7  is--.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Oh, I did not

          9  see the final version then.

         10                 MR. ZANGERLE:  Which is $35,000.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Oh, okay no one

         12  mentioned that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  First, if I-

         14  I certainly would like to see the agreement, and I

         15  would like to ask you for an appointment to go

         16  through my items because I still do not understand

         17  it clearly, and tell me one by one, which one's are

         18  going to get done, and which one's are not.  That is

         19  all, and I would like the appointment before the

         20  Hudson Yards gets done.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Cheech will go

         22  over that

         23  with you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay,

         25  whatever.
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          2                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  I think in general

          3  just our agreement, and Jim correct me if I am

          4  wrong, is

          5  to- the agency or we will start the process early by

          6  giving questionnaires to all the groups so we can

          7  gather the information that will be necessary to

          8  produce the commitment and contract.

          9                 We will start that process very

         10  shortly.  There is a commitment from the

         11  Administration to do that within 30 days, I believe,

         12  as part of this MOU, and so, that will start the

         13  process. We expect, while there is a lot of groups

         14  involved, and the biggest problem at this point is

         15  trying to align the groups that we have given the

         16  money to, to specific agencies to carry it out

         17  because there is certain agencies that are refusing

         18  to do it on the Mayor's side, so we have to somehow

         19  get around them, this is problem that we have.  But,

         20  we have the cooperation of the Office of Management

         21  and Budget, who says that they are going to work on

         22  our projects diligently, and we expect that.

         23                 So if there is- as the questionnaires

         24  go out, we expect these groups to be contacted by

         25  agencies, and we expect the process to move forward.
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          2

          3                 If there are delays or people do not

          4  feel that it is moving properly, then contact us and

          5  we will follow up.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I just,

          7  again, want to ask as a courtesy for what I said

          8  earlier.

          9                 I would like a copy of the

         10  Memorandum.  I would like to have the opportunity

         11  for one of you to help me figure out which one's

         12  meet which criteria's, and then finally, you said

         13  something that troubles me with regard to the

         14  agencies that are not being cooperative.

         15                 What is the use of having

         16  a`Memorandum of Understanding', with the Office of

         17  Management and Budget saying, "we are going to take

         18  care of anything", and then the Department of

         19  Education or some other agency saying, "no, we do

         20  not like this project", so we are back to square

         21  one.

         22                 MR. ZANGERLE:  I suggest you bring

         23  that up to Mr. Page if he testifies before us at

         24  some point.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  No, I am
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          2  asking you, I want to know if your saying that what

          3  I am saying is true, then this- that is the point.

          4                 We are passing a budget mod., it is

          5  rare that we have a chance to apply any pressure to

          6  the Administration to be cooperative.

          7                 This is one of the few times, and

          8  then if they are giving us a little piece of the

          9  carrot and saying, "here move forward, pass the

         10  budget mod., and then go to hell", then I do not see

         11  any reason for us to do that.  This is the time for

         12  us to say, "no", and straighten it out once and for

         13  all.

         14                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  I think the point is

         15  that they are trying to be cooperative here.  They

         16  understand that certain agencies are resisting this,

         17  so are going to go around, they are going to help us

         18  go around those agencies.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay.

         20                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  And that is what we

         21  expect to happen.

         22                 It is unfortunate that they cannot

         23  mandate but we will try and work with the process

         24  that they feel will work, and we will try to

         25  determine if it works or not.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So, are you

          3  satisfied with this`Memorandum of Understanding'?

          4                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  I am cautiously

          5  optimistic because they had verbally have told us

          6  they have given us their commitment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  If you were a

          8  council member that had many capital projects that

          9  have not been done, would you say to yourself, "no

         10  problem, vote for this thing because I think things

         11  are going to work out, we are not going to hang you

         12  if they do not work out."

         13                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  If I was a council

         14  member, I would not have let it go this far.

         15                 MR. ZANGERLE:  Whoa, that was good,

         16  that was good.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Somebody help

         18  me.  I do not even know how to respond, I am

         19  speechless.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, if we can

         21  move along here, we have a couple of more

         22  questioners, and we have to vote, the hour is

         23  getting late.

         24                 Council Member Lopez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I am
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          2  interested in the revenues that was coming for the

          3  sale of the medallions on the taxi, and I would like

          4  you to give me some information on that.           MR

          5  . ZANGERLE:  My understanding is that it was

          6  originally in the plan for $65 billion, and it was

          7  then for

          8  Fiscal`05, where the sale actually happened, they

          9  got more money than they expected, and I believe it

         10  was close to $100 million, I think it is like $98-

         11  $99 million, and that has become part of the PEG

         12  program for the second half of Fiscal`95 (SIC),

         13  representing roughly $35 million, $100 minus $65

         14  that is part of what they call their asset sale

         15  figure of $75 million.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then in that

         17  figure that we are talking about, that is

         18  identifying this document?

         19                 MR. ZANGERLE:  No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  No, why not?

         21                 MR. CARAS:  It is part- it is what

         22  they call below the line in their natural planned

         23  presentation, and it is part of their gap closing

         24  program for the remainder of 2005.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then saying
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          2  that--.

          3                 MR. CARAS:  They will eventually mod

          4  it in.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  They will be

          6  put in?

          7                 MR. CARAS:  It will be put in.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  But we do not

          9  know when?

         10                 MR. CARAS:  In the second half of the

         11  year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay then, Mr.

         13  Sherman, I want to call your attention to the

         14  revenues that have come through that because, again,

         15  in regard of the disabled community, we the Council,

         16  have not fulfilled the promise that every citizen of

         17  this City should be included in the well being of

         18  the City when money is made, the disabled community

         19  is not included.

         20                 These medallions were sold without

         21  being wheelchair accessible, and inclusionary.  We

         22  continue to have that policy in this Council, we

         23  pretended that we passed a piece of legislation in

         24  this Council that is going to sell 10 percent of the

         25  total medallions to be wheelchair accessible, and
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          2  still we have not fulfilled that promise.

          3                 The piece of legislation that we

          4  passed in order to pacify Margarita Lopez, and to

          5  pacify the disabled community, in regard of this

          6  medallion have proven to be a flat.  Have proven to

          7  be a lie.  And it is time for this Council to own up

          8  to the disabled community before all of these

          9  medallions are sold.

         10                 We should pass a piece of legislation

         11  that I have in the Council in regard to this that is

         12  directly connected to the revenue of this City in

         13  order to make the disabled community equal to any

         14  other citizen of this City, and make wheelchair

         15  accessible all of the taxi's in this City.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         18  Council member.

         19                 The last questioner on this issue,

         20  and then we have to call our other members in for a

         21  quorum because we are going to loose our members

         22  here is Council Member Fidler.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yes, I will

         24  try and be brief.

         25                 You made reference to the
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          2  Administration's gap closing program, and some below

          3  the line numbers.

          4                 Have they shared the gap closing

          5  program with us?

          6                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Not in detail, only

          7  in broad pictures, broad strokes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Why haven't

          9  we insisted on that?

         10                 I mean, I understand that they

         11  haven't so much as sent out letters telling

         12  commissioners they have to cut spending. They have

         13  done it orally, I mean, is this government in super

         14  secret?  I mean, where is the transparency of any of

         15  this?

         16                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Well, I believe we

         17  will see it all in the January plan.  They will be

         18  pretty specific in what they are going to propose

         19  for reductions for agencies, which is $300 million

         20  in this current fiscal year, and $600 million in

         21  next fiscal year.

         22                 The other pieces included $950

         23  million for state and federal aid, which we do not

         24  know the specifics for, and asset sales of $325, and

         25  oh, there is a pension and health insurance savings
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          2  of $325.

          3                 They eliminated the pay as you go

          4  capital, $200 million in each year, that is a

          5  surety, and that is it.  So, those pieces make up-

          6  the asset sales are $315, those pieces make up the

          7  gap closing plan for approximately $3 billion for

          8  next fiscal year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, we can

         10  look forward to bad news in January in terms of

         11  spending initiatives?

         12                 MR. TRAMONTANO:  Yes we think that

         13  there will be some things that we are concerned

         14  about.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, the

         16  other question I have, I am looking at the education

         17  mod., and I see that there is a mod. To add money

         18  for remedial education for fifth graders, am I

         19  reading that correctly?

         20                 MS. EMANUEL:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And I see

         22  there is a mod. For special ed. To reflect actual

         23  expenditures, am I correct in reading that too?

         24                 MS. EMANUEL:  Yes, there is

         25  realignments, there are pluses and minuses on the
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          2  special ed. Side, going from one UA to another--.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Those are

          4  both--.

          5                 MS. EMANUEL:  Zero net to zero, that

          6  particular instance.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Those are

          8  both good and necessary things.

          9                 Where is the budget mod. For gifted

         10  and talented programs?

         11                 MS. EMANUEL:  It is not here.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Oh, and would

         13  that be because gifted and talented programs do not

         14  really cost any money, other than what, and there is

         15  absolutely no division at DOE that deals with gifted

         16  and talented students in the City of New York?

         17                 MS. EMANUEL:  I do not know, I can

         18  not answer that.              You have to talk to

         19  the Department.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, I just-

         21  you know I am just making a point that is all.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         24  Council member.

         25                 If you could all stay around, we need
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          2  three more members, so I am going to call for a vote

          3  momentarily.

          4                 Please do not leave.

          5                 Okay, we are going to couple the

          6  following items: The two preconsidered MN's, the

          7  revenue mod., and the expense mod., and Intro. 454-

          8  A, which is the tax credit for the film industry.

          9                 Call the roll.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Weprin.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Comrie.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lopez.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Nelson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Moskowitz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Rivera.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  DeBlasio.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Felder.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Fidler.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gennaro.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gioia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  McMahon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yes, on the

         18  budget modification.  No, on 454- A.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Provenzano.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Aye on

         21  all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vann.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gallagher.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Announce the

          7  results.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 14 in

          9  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         10  abstentions, the two pre- mods. Are adopted, with

         11  the exception of Intro. 454- A, which is adopted by

         12  a vote of 13 in the affirmative, one in the negative

         13  and no abstentions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  The roll will

         15  stay open for those members that are in the building

         16  or around the building, and want to vote.

         17                 All the members were at the committee

         18  meeting earlier, so, I am going to keep the roll

         19  open until the Stated Meeting.

         20                 Other than that, we are adjourned.

         21                 (Meeting adjourned 12:25 p.m.)
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